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t 
§ 
§ COMPLAINANT'S SUPPLEMENT TO 
§ PREHEARING EXCHANGE 
§ 
§ 

COMPLAINANT'S SUPPLEMENT TO INITIAL PREHEARING EXCHANGE 

The Complainant, the Director of the Water Quality Protection Division, United States 

Environmental Protection Agency, Region 6, through its attorney, hereby files its Supplement to 

Initial Pre hearing Exchange pursuant to the Scheduling Order, dated November 22, 20 II, issued 

by the Presiding Officer and pursuant to the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the 

Administrative Assessment of Civil Penalties and the Revocation or Suspension of Permits, 40 

C.F.R. Part 22. In the Order, the Presiding Officer instructed the Parties to file a Prehearing 

Exchange containing specific information. This document contains Complainant's supplemental 

responses to the Presiding Officer's Order. During the January 24, 2012 prehearing conference, 

Complainant expressed its intent to file this supplement to its initial Prehearing Exchange and 

Respondent had no objection. Complainant's initial Prehearing Exchange is incorporated by 

reference. 

A. WITNESSES: 

The Complainant offers no changes to its initial Prehearing Exchange with regard to 

witnesses. 

B. EXHIBITS: 

The Complainant may offer into evidence the following supplemental exhibits: 
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Clean Water Act Section 404 Settlement Penalty Policy 

Electronic compact disc containing digital color copies of 

the photographs contained in Complainant's Exhibits 6-29, 

33-35 

The Complainant respectfully reserves the right to amend its prehearing exchange to add 

or subtract exhibits and/or documents. 

C. PLACE FOR HEARING AND ESTIMATED TIME NEEDED: 

Complainant neither changes its requested place for hearing nor its estimate oftime 

needed. 

D. ASSESSMENT OF CIVIL PENALTY: 

The Complainant otTers no changes to its initial Prehearing Exchange with regard to its 

assessment of a civil penalty. 

E. PAPERWORK REDUCTION ACT API>LICABILITY 

The Paperwork Reduction Act of 1980 (PRA), 44 U.S.C. §§ 3501 et seq. as amended, 

does not apply in this case. Also, there is not an Office of Management and Budget Control 

Number herein and the Provisions of Section 3512 of the PRA are not applicable. 





--

Respectfully submitted, 
) 

~ 
Russell Murdock 
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Assistant Regional Counsel (6RC-EW) 
Office of Regional Counsel 
U.S. EPA, Region 6 
1445 Ross Ave., Ste. 1200 
Dallas, TX 75202-2733 
Murdock.russell@epa.gov 
Tel.: (214) 665-3189 
Fax. : (214) 665-3177 



1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 

1 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Docket No. CWA-06-2007-1948 
Page 4 

I certify that the original of the foregoing Complainant's Prehearing Exchange was hand-

delivered to and filed with the Regional Hearing Clerk, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 

Region 6, 1445 Ross Avenue, Dallas, Texas 75202-2733, and a true and correct copy was sent to 
:i)-

the following on this fltf day of January, 2012, in the following manner: 

Via Certified, First Class Mail 

Charles (Chuck) Kibler, Jr. 
The Kibler Law Firm 
765 N. 51

h Street 
Silsbee, TX 77656 
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20460 

DEC 2 1 2001 
OFFICE OF 

ENFORCEMENT ANO 
COMPLIANCE ASSURANCE 

MEMORANDUM 

SUBJECT: 

FROM: 

TO: 

~jf, w~-f 
~~t:.f R vised CWA Section 404 Settlement Penalty 

Acting As st~c~dministrator 
Water Protection/Management Division Directors, 
Regions I-X 
Director, Office of Environmenta,l Stewardship, Region I 
Director, Division of Environmental Protection and 
Planning, Region II 
Enforcement and Compliance Assistance Directors, 
Regions II, VI, and VIII 
Water, Wetlands, and Pesticides Division Director, 
Region VII 
Regional Counsels, Regions I-X 

Attached is the Agency's new Clean Water Act section 404 
Settlement Penalty Policy. This Policy is intended to be used by 
EPA in calculating the penalty that the Federal government will 
generally seek in settlement of judicial and administrative 
actions for Section 404 violations (i.e., violations resulting 
from the discharge of dredged or fill material into wetlands or 
other waters of the United States without Section 404 permit 
authorization, or in violation of a Section 404 permit.) This 
policy establishes a framework which EPA expects to use in 
exercising its enforcement discretion in determining appropriate 
settlement amounts for such cases. 

This guidance is intended to promote a more consistent 
national approach to assessing settlement penalty amounts in CWA 
Section 404 enforcement actions, while allowing EPA staff 
flexibility in arriving at specific penalty settlement amounts in 

lnt&met Address (URL)., http://www.epa.gov 
Rooyc!l.ld/ROOyolablo • Ptfntad wnh Veg&lab!o 0!1 Ba.ooU Inks on Rocycltld Pap&r(Minlmum 30~/t Posiconsum~r) 
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a given case. This policy is effective immediately and 
supersedes the December 14, 1990 Guidance, "Clean Water Act 
Section 404 Civil Administrative Penalty Actions: Guidance on 
Calculating Settlement Amounts." This policy applies to all CWA 
Section 404 civil judicial and administrative actions filed after 
this date, and to all pending cases in which the government has 
not yet. transmitted to the defendant or respondent a proposed 
settlement penalty amount. This policy may be applied in pending 
cases in which penalty negotiations have commenced, if 
application of this Policy would not be disruptive to the 
negotiations. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all those in 
the Regions, the Office of General Counsel, and Department of 
Justice who commented on drafts of this policy. Your comments 
were very helpful in making this a more complete and useful 
document. 

If you have questions or comments with respect to this 
Policy please contact Joe Theis in the Water Enforcement Division 
at (202)564-0024. 

Attachment 

cc: Susan Lepow, OGC 
Leti Grishaw, DOJ-EDS 
Mary Beth Ward, DOJ-EDS 
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CLEAN WATER ACT SECTION 404 
SETTLEMENT PENALTY POLICY 
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CLEAN WATER ACT SECTION 404 
SETTLEMENT PENALTY POLICY 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This document sets forth tl1e policy of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA" or 
"Agency") for establishing appropriate penalties in settlement of an administmtive or civil judicial penalty 
proceeding against a person who has violated Sections 301 and 404 of the Clean Water Act ("CWA" 
or "Act")' by discharging dredged or fill material into wetlands or other waters of the United States 
witl10ut Section 404 permit authorization, or in violation of a Section 404 permit.' TI1is policy 
implements the Agency's Policy on Civil Penalties and the companion docwnent, A Framework for 
Statute Spec(jic Approaches to Penalty Assessments, both issued on February 16, 1984, with 
respect to these types of violations. This settlement penalty policy should he read in cm~unction with 
other applicable policies, such as the Interim Guidance on Administrative and Civil Judicial 
Enforcement Following Recent Amendments to the Equal Access to Justice Act (SBREFA Policy) 
(May 28, 1996), Incentives for Self Policing: Discovery, Disclosure, Correction and Prevention 
of Violations (EPA Audit Policy) (April 11, 2000), and the l:."P A Supplemental Environmental 
Projects Policy (SEP Policy) (May 1, 1998). 

EPA brings enforcement actio11~ to require alleged violators to promptly correct tl1cir violations 
and to remedy any hann caused by those violations? As part of an enforcement action, El' A also 
seeks substantial monetary penalties, that recover tl1e economic benefit of the violations plus an 
appropriate gravity amount that will deter future violations by the same violator and by other members 
of tl1e regulated community. Penalties help to ensure a level playing field within the regulated community 

1 33 U.S.C. § 131l(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1344. 

2 EPA may currently seck civil penalties up to $27,500 per day per violation in the federal district courts 

under Section 309(d), or may seck an administrative assessment of$11 ,000 per day of violation up to $137,500 before 
an Agency administrative law judge under Section 309(g) for the unauthorized discharge of dredged or fi 11 m:Hcriu! 
into waters of the Unite<! States, or violation of a Section 404 permit. 33 U .S.C. § 1319(d) and (g). These figures 
reflect a ! 0% increase from the amounts set forrh in the CW A as provided for under the Cj vii Monetary Penalties 
Adjustment Rule, The Agency is preparing to issue a revision to the Civil Monetary Penalties Adjustment Rule in 
the near future .. ~ footnote 10 below for fmther discussion. 

3 For a discussion of the policy and procedures regarding EPA and Army Corps of Engineers ("Corps'') 
implementation of Section 404 enforcement responsibilities~ "Memorandum of Agreement Between the 
Dcpar!ment of 1hc Army/Envjronmcntal Protection Agency Concerning Federal Enforcement for the Section 404 
Program of the Clean Water Act" (January 19, 1989). This document is available on the Internet al: 
h htp :/ /www. cpa.gov/0 WOW /wet! a nds/regs/ en fmoa. h tm I. 

-2-
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by ensuring that violators do not obtain an unfair economic advantage over competitors who have 
complied with the Act. At the same time, EPA's policies provide for adjustments based on a violator's 
good faith eft1:llts to comply (or lack tl1ereof) and inability to pay a penalty. 

The need to deter violations and remedy any hann caused by such violations is especially 
evident witl1 respect to the discharge of dredged and/or fill material into waters oftl1e U.S., paiticularly 
wetlands and other special aquatic sites.4 Wetlands are a vital yet increasingly threatened natural 
resource.' Wetlands act as natural sponges, providing tloodprotection and storn1 damage control and 
facilitating grow1dwater recharge. TI1ey fumish habitat for myriad plants and animals, including many 
endangered species, and provide billions of dollars to the national economy each year from fisheries 
and recreational activities such as hunting and bird watching.6 Wetlands also perform a vital role in 
maintaining water quality by trapping sediments and otl1er pollutants before tlley reach streams, rive1~, 
and other open-water bodies.' Oilier special aquatic sites, such as mud flats and vegetated shallows, 
as well as open bodies of waters such as rivers, lakes, and streams also provide important ftmctions and 
values. Discharges of dredged or fill material into waters of me U.S. may result in destruction of, or 
serious degradation to such waters. Given the significant values provided by .such waters, it is all the 
more important to assess adequate penalties to deter futW'e Section 404 violations and thereby help to 
achieve the goal oftl1e Clean Water Act to "restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological 
integrity of the Nation's waters.'~ 

This policy sets forth how the Agency generally expects to detennine an appropriate settlement 
penalty in CWA Section 404 cases. In some cases, me calculation metllodology set forth here may not 
be appropriate, in whole or in part. In such cases, with the advance approval of the Office of 
Enforcement and Compliance Assurunce ("OECA"), an altemative or modified approach may be used. 

A. Purpose 

This policy is intended to provide guidance to EPA staff in calculating an appropriate penalty 
arnoW1t in sett!ClJ)ent of civil judicial and administmtive actions involving Section 404 violations and 

4 ~ 40 C.F.R. 230.2(q-l) (Special aquatic sites include sanctuaries and refuges, wetlands, mudflats, 
vegetative shallows, coral reefs and riffle and pool complexes). 

5 ~u., U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service: Report to Congress: Wetlands Losses in the United States 1780's 
to 1980's ( !990). 

6 ruu., U~S. Fish and Wildlife Service: Wet!nnds of the United States: Current Status and Recent Trends 
(1984). 

·r ~~.,US v Dcaton,209F.3d331 (4111 Cir.2000). 

8 33 U.S.C. § !25l(a). 

-3-
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related violations (e.g., failure to comply with a Section 308 request or a Section309(a) order with 
respect to such a violation). The guidance is designed to promote a more consistent national approach 
to assessing settlement penalty amounts, while allowing EPA statl:'!1exibility in arriving at specific penalty 
settlement <nnounts in a given case. Subject to the circumstances of a particular case, this policy 
provides the lowest penalty figure that the Federal Government should accept in settlement. TI1e 
Federal Government reserves the right to seek any amount up to tl1e statutory maximum where 
settlement is not possible, as well as where circumstances wmrant application of a higher penally than 
what would be provided for tUlder this settlement policy. 

Tllis policy is meant to accomplish the following fclUr objectives in the assessment of penalties 
for Section 404 violations. First, penalties should be large enough to deter noncompliance, both by the 
violator and others similarly situated. Second, the penalties should help ensure a level playing field by 
making certain tbat violators do not obtain an economic advantage over others who have complied in a 
timely fashion. Third, penalties should generally be consistent across the country to promote fair and 
equitable treatment of the Te!,'Ulated community. Finally, settlement penalties should be based on a fair 
and logical calculation methodology to promote expeditious resolution of Section 404 enforcement 
actions and their underlying violatiort>. 

B. Applicability 

ll1is policy applies to all CW A Section 404 civil judicial and achninisuative actions filed after 
the signature date oftl1e policy, and to all such pending cases in which the govenunent has not yet 
transmitted to the defendant or respondent a proposed settlement penalty aillOtult. This policy revises 
and hereby supersedes the December 14, 1990 Guidance, "Clean Water Act Section 404 Civil 
Administrative Penalty Actions: Guidance on Calculating Settlement Amounts." Except as provided in 
Section II below, this policy is not intended for use by EPA, violators, administrative judges or coUJts in 
detennining penalties at hearing or trial. This policy does not aftect the discretion of Agency 
enforcement staft'to request any amount up to tl1e statutory maxhnunl allowed by Jaw! Finally, this 
policy does not apply to criminal cases that may be brougbt for the tu1authorized discharge of dredged 
or fill material in violation of the CW A. 

~ Because of the requirements of 40 C.F .R. §22.14(a) (4), administrative complaints filed under Jlart 22 must 
have either the amount of the civil penalty thai the Agency is proposing to assess, and a brief explanation of the 
proposed penalty, or where a specific penalty demand is not rna de, a brief explanation of the sevcri:y of each 
violation alleged and a citation to the statutory penalty authority in Section 309(g)(3) upplicablc for each violation 
alleged in the complaint. Regional enforcement staff should follow the guidance provided on thi~ subject in 
"Guidance on the Distinctions Among Pleading, Negotiating and Litigating Civil Penalties for Enforcement Cases 
lJnder the Clean Wate-r Act," issued January 19, 1989, and in "Interim Guidan.cc on Administrative and Civil Judicial 
Enforcement F<.)l\owing Recent Amendments to the Equal Access to J1.tsticc Act," issued May 28, 1996. 

-4-
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C. Statutory Auti.!Qrities 

The Clean Water Act provides EPA with various enforcement mechanisms for 
responding to violations of Sections 301(a) and 404 for discharging without, or in violation of, a Section 
404 pem1it. Under Section 309(a), the Agency is authorized to issue an administrative compliance 
order (AO) requiri11g a violator to cease an ongoil1g unautho.rized discharge, to refrain fium future illegal 
discharge activity, and to remove Ullauthorized till and/or otherwise restore the site. Section 309(g) of 
the Act authmizes EPA to assess administrative penalties for, among other things, discharging dredged 
or fill material into waters of the United States without a Section 404 pennit or in violation of a Section 
404 pennit. Section 309(g) establishes two classes of administrative penalties, which differ with 
respect to procedure and maximum assessment, for such violations. A Class 1 penalty, provided for 
Ullder Section 309(g)(2)(A), may not exceed $11,000 per violation, or a maximum amount of$27,500. 
A Class I! penalty tmder Section309(g)(2)(B) may not exceed $11,000 per day for each day during 
which the violation continues, or a maximwn an1oW1t of$137,500. 10 

EPA may also seekinjUllctive relief, criminal penalties (fines and/orimprisonment), and civil 
penalties through judicial action under CW A Sections 309(b), (c) and (d), respectively. Under these 
provisions, the Agency may refer cases to the Department of Justice (DOJ) for civil and/or criminal 
enforcement. Under Section309(d), EPA may seek civil penalties of up to $27,500 per day per 
violation in the Jederal district courts, for CW A violations including the unauthorized discharge of 
dredged or fill material into waters of the United States, violation of a Section 404 penni!, or violation 
of a Section 309(a) administrative compliance order. 

For purposes of ca1c1llating a penalty w1der Sections 309( d) or (g), a violation begins when 
dredged or fill material is discharged into waters oftltc United States without a Section 404 permit and 
continues to occur each day that the illegal discharge remains in place. With respect to a violation of a 
Section 309(a) compliance order, a violation begins when tl1e order is violated and continues each day 
tutti! the order is complied witl1. 

10 The Civil Monetary Penaltieb: Inflation Adjustment Rule, 40 C.F.R. Part 19, issued pursuant to thl.' Federal 
Civil Pc11alties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990 (28 U .S.C. § 2461 note; Pl:b. L. 1 0 J -410, enacted October 5, 1990; ! 04 
Stat. 890), as amended by the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (31 U.S,C. 370 I note; Public Law 104-134, 
enacted Apri\26, 1996; 1 10 Stat. 1321), mandatc.s that EPA adj\tst its civil monetary penalties for inflation every four 
years. Thus, the maximu_m penalty figures cited in this guidance rcDect the ini1ial ten percent increase from the 
amounts set forth in the Act. For violations occurring before January 30, I 997_, the maximum penalty amounts the 
Agency may seek are those specified in the Acl. The Agency is preparing to issue a revision to the Civil Monetary 
Adjustment Rule in the near future. After the effective date of the rule, the maximum penalties available arc expected 
to be as follows: for dvil judicial pe-nalties \:nder 309(d) ~ $30,500 per day per violation, for Class I administrmive 
penalties ~S 12,000 per day per violation, $30,000 maximum~ for Class JI penalties ~ S 12,000 per violation, S 152,500 
maximum. 

-5-
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D. Statutorv and Settlement l'ena!ty Factors 

Section 309(d) of the CW A sets forth the following penalty factors that district court judges are 
to use when dctcnnining an appropriate civil penalty: "the seriousness of the violation or violations, the 
economic benefit (if any) resulting ti·om the violation, any histOJy of such violations, any good-fhirb 
e1lc1rts. to comply with the applicable requirements, the economic impact of the penalty on the violator, 
and such other matters as justice may require." 33 U.S.C. Section 1319(d). 

Section309(g)(3) addresses the J\1ctors to be considered when determining an appropriate 
administrative penalty ammmt. It states tl1at the Agency "shall take into account the nature, 
circumstances, extent and gmvity of the violation. or violations, and, witl1 respect to the violator, ability 
to pay, any prior history of such violations, the degree of culpability, economic bcnetit or savings (if 
any) resulting from the violation, and such other matters as justice may require," 33 U.S.C. Section 
1319(g)(3). 

The penalty assessment factors in Sections 309(d) and 309(g) are substantively the same, and 
not in conflict. The references in Section 309(d) to "good faith efforts" and in Section 309(g)(3) to 
"culpability," for example, although oriented to different types of behavior, both measure the non
compliant conduct of the violator. Other factors, such as economic benefit, history of violations, and 
such other matters as justice may require, are essentially identical, and the remaining factom are just 
restatements of each other. Consequently, tl1e penalty calculation methodology drawn fmm the 
statutory factors and set forth below can be applied to both administrative and judicial civil enforcement 
cases. 

E. Choice of Forum 

The application of this penalty settlement policy, through the calcu.lation of an appropriate 
bottom-line penalty amount, is one tactor for Agency personnel to consider when choosing an 
appropriate forum. 11 The case development team12 should apply tllis policy to heljJ detennine whether 
to seek a penalty adminisb1ltively or judicially. If the bottom-line penalty calculated m1der tllis policy 
exceeds the maxinmm penalty that can be acllieved in an admb1istrative proceeding, EPA should refer 
the matter to tl1e Depmtment of Justice for judicial enforcement.'' Cases should also be referred to 

ll OECA intends to issue additional guidance in the ncar future on determining the appropriate response 

for Section 404 violations. 

12 For purposes of this guidance, the case development team refers to the Agency 404 technical and legal 

staff responsible for developing and pursuing a particular adminiStrative or judicial enforcement aclion, 

13 For further guidance ort choosing bet ween administrative and judicial enforcement options,~ 
"Guidance on Choosing Among Clean Water Act Administrative, Civil and Criminal Enforcement Remedies," 
(August 28, 1987), which was attachment 2 to the August 28, 1987 "Guidance Documents and Dek.gations for 

-6-
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DOJ where co\Ui ordered injunctive relief is necessary to remedy a violation, or where the violator has 
tililed to comply with an administrative compliance order or consent order. 

II. ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY PLEADING GUIDANCE 

In complaints filed in civil judicial cases, the United States' general practice is not to request a 
specillc proposed penalty, bnt instead to paraphrase the Clean Water Act in reciting a request for a 
penalty '\1p to" the statutory maximum. This is sometimes refened to as "notice pleading" for penalties. 
In contrast, in. administrative complaints the Agency may use either a fo!l'll of notice pleading or make a 
specillc penalty request. fu 40 C.F.R. 22.14(a)(4)(64 Fed. Reg. 40138, 40181 (July 23, 1999)). 
When including a specillc penalty request in an acbninistrative complaint, the Agency litigation team may 
elect to adapt the settlement methodology in Part Ill of tl1is policy (Minimum Settlement Penalty 
Calculation) to establish a definitive penalty request in an administrative complaint." 

In using Part. III ofthis policy to establish a specific penalty request in an administrative 
complaint, tl1e litigation team should, after reasonable exanlination of the relevant facts and 
circumstances of the case (including any known defenses), make the most fuvorable factual 
assumptions, legal arguments, and judgments possible on behalf of the Agency. Because tl1c specillc 
penalty amount proposed in an administrative complaint will, for all practical purposes, be the most the 
Agency will be able .tc seek at a hearing (lll1less the complaint is subsequently amended) and will 
provide a starting point for settlement negotiations, such an administrative penalty request should be 
lligher than the bottom-line settlement penalty an10tU1t calculated under Part III of this policy. Altlwugh 
appropriate tor settlement calculatioJL~, the Adjusttnents in Part lll.C. should not be applied to reduce 
the specillc penalty amount requested in an administrative complaint. 

The proposed administrative penalty an1olll1t should be consistent with the statutory factors 
identified in Section 309(g), because those factors would ultimately provide the basis for tl1e penalty 
assessment of the presiding officer or administrative law judge.!' In any Class II administrative 
complaint under Section 309(g)(2)(B), the Agency litigation team should take into account the 
requirements of the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fain1ess Act ("SBREFA"), P.L. 104-121 
( 1996), if tl1e re&])ondent qualilles as a small business tll1der that statute. SBREF A by its terms does 

Jmplementatlon of Administrative Penalty A~llhorities Contained in 1987 Clean Water Act Amendments." 

11 Although ~his policy provides general guidelines on how EPA may select an appropriate penalty 
amount in an administrative complaint, it does not direct when an Agency litigation team should use penalty notice 
pleading and Wht~n it should plead for a sum certain. 

lS rn administrative cases under Part 22, the Agency is required to provide "[t)hc amount of the civil 
penalty which is proposed and a bricfexplnnation of the proposed penalty." 40 C.F.R. §22.l4(a)(4)(i). In contrast, a 
seulement figure calculated under this policy and its supporting documentation arcll.Qlsubjcct to such disclosure 
require men Is. 

-7-
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not apply to rwn-Administrative Procedures Act ("non-A.PA") cases, and thus would not apply to 
Class I cases brought w1der Section 309(g)(2)(B).1

' 

III. MINIMUM SETTLEMENT PENALTY CALCULATION 

The case development team shall calculate the minim1un settlement penalty for a Section 404 
enforcement action consistent witl1 the following formula (set forth in more detail in Attachment 1 ), and 
the factors described in this section: 

Penalty = Economic Benefit + (Preliminary Gravity Amount +/-Gravity Adjustment 
Factors)· Litigation Considerations- Abitlty to Pay· Mitigation Credit for SEPs 

'i11e result of this calculation will be the minimum penalty amount that the govemment will accept in 
settlement of the case, in other words, the "bottom-line penalty" amount. As new or better information 
is obtained in tl1e course of litigation or settlement negotiations, or if protracted litigation or settlement 
discussions unduly extend the final compliance date and/or the penalty payment date, the "bottom-line" 
penalty should be adjusted, either upwards or downwards as necessary, consistent witl1 the factors laid 
out in tlils policy, and subject to Headquarters concurrence in appropriate cases. Each component of 
the penalty is discussed below. The results oftl1esc calculations should be documented as dollar· 
amounts on the "Worksheet for Calculating Section 404 Settlement Penalty," included as Appendix A. 
Tlus calculation should be supported by a memorandum describing the rationale and basis for the data. 
As a general matter, the Agency should always seek a penalty tlmt, at a minimum, recovers the 
economic benefit of noncompliance plus some amount reflecting the gravity of the violation. 

A. Determining the Economic Benefit Component 

Consistent with EPA's Febmary 1984 Policy on Civil Penalties, every effort should be made 
to calculate and recover the economic benefit of noncompliance." Persons who violate the CW A by 
discharging dredged and/or fill material witl1out Section 404 permit authorization or in violation of a 
permit may have obtained an economic benefit by obtah1ing an illegal competitive advantage ("ICA"), 
or as the result of delayed or avoided costs, or by a combination of these or other factors. Taking into 
accotmt !CA. may be particularly appropriate in situations where on-site restoration is not feasible (e.g., 
where restoration would result in greater environmental dan1age), and a pennit would not likely have 
been issued for the project in question. In such cases, the Agency may (:onsidcr recovering the 
commen:ial gain the violator realized tinm illegally fiJ!ing in the wetland or other water. The objective of 

16 For a more extended discussion of SBREF A, ~"Interim Guidance on Administrative and Civil Judicial 
Enforcement Following Recent Amendments to the Equul Access to Justice Act" (May 28, 1996). 

17 lliPolicy on Civil Penalties, February 16, 1984, at 3. 

-8-

Page 10 of 24 



Complainant's Ex. 40 

calculating and recovering economic benefit is to place violatOJ~ in no better financial position tltan they 
would have been had they complied with tlte law. 

The BEN computer model should be used to calculate tlte economic benefit gained Jl'om 
delayed or avoided compliance costs. 18 Economic benetlt should be calculated from the date of the 
initial violati01~ (i.e., the date of the initial discharge of dredged or fill material). As a general rule, there 
should be no offset in an economic benefit calculation, in a delayed or avoided cost scemuio, for costs 
the violator incw~ as a result of undertaking the illegal activity (i.e., in the context of a 404 violation tltis 
would be the amowtt the violator spent to perfonn the original unauthOJized dredging or filling activities), 
since, as specified in tlte BEN User's Manual, credit is only appropriate for cost savings that "are botlt 
documented ~md related to compliance.'"' 

Because a violator may have obtained more than one type of economic benefit from its 
noncompliance, the case development team should ensure tltat tlte amowtt calculated represents the 
total economic benefit wrongfully obtained.20 Examples of other types of economic benefit may 
include delayed or avoided pennitting fees and associated costs (e.g., information collection and 
consultant fees), increased property values, profits from the tempomty or permanent use of property, 
or other illegal competitive advantage to tl1e extent tltat the gain would not have accrued but for the 
illegal discharge. 21 

B. Determjnathm of the Grayjty Component 

18 The BEN model is found on lhe Agency's web site at hhtp://www.epa.gov/oeca/datasys/dsm2.html 

along with the BEN User's Manual. EPA currently does not have an economic benefit model for catculuting 
economic benefit from illegal competitive advanlagc. For further information on the usc of the BEN modcl and 

guidance in its usc, or for help in calculating ICA, contac! the Financial Jssues Helpline at (888) 326w6778. Since as a 
general nile all 404 civil judicial cases arc deemed nationally significant, Headquarter!i and the Regions wi!l con:wlt 
on the appropriate determination of economic benefit in such cases, In administrative cases, when considering 
under what circumstances various costs may offset economic benefit, the Regions will need to consult with 

Headquarters. 

19 BEN User's Manual, (September 1999), at 3·11. 

20 lf an initial calculati(}n of economic benefit yields a zero or negative result, the case deVelopment team 

should ensure that all possible forms of illegal competitive advantngc have been analy:ted and included if 
appropriate. (Where the economic benefit catculatiort yields a negative number, a zero should be entered in the 
minimum sCLllcment penalty calculation for the economic bcucfit component.) 

21 Additional examples include gains generated from SliCh uses a~ agriculture {e.g., profits from the sale of 

crops), logging, aquaculture, receipt of a loan, rent or lease payments, mining of sand and gravel, or from. the early 
usc of a recreational site (e.g., golf course or ski rcs~Ht), which the violator gained prior to ceasing operation or 
removing the unlawful discharge or otherwi"c rc~·tor1ng the propt..•rty. 
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Removal of the economic benefit of noncompliance generally places violators in the same 
position they would have been in had they complied with the Act. 111erefore, both deterrence and 
fimdamental taimess are served by including an additional element to ensure that violators are 
adequately penalized. 22 111e following gravity calculation is based on a methodology that provides <l 

logical scheme. and unifmm criteria to quantify tl1e gravity component of the penalty based on the 
enviromnental and compliance significance of the violation(s) in question. 

Preliminary Gravity Amount= (sum of A factors+ sum ofB factors)x M 

M (Multiplier) = $500 for minor violations wid1 low overall environmental and compliance significance, 
$1,500 for violations with moderate overall enviromnental and compliance significance, and $3,000-
$10,00023 for major violations witl1 a high degree of either environmental or compliance significance. 
Given the highly fact specific nature of 404 cases, tlus policy provides broad ranges for the factors set 
out below to afford the case development team broad discretion to assess the appropriate penally in a 
given eircwnstance. 

"A" FACTORS; ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE 

value Assigned 

I. Ham1 to Human Health or Welfare 0-20 

The case development team should consider whether the discharge of dredged or fillmatetial 
has adversely impacted drinking water supplies, has resulted in (or is expected to result in) flooding, 
impaired commercial or spmt fisheries or shellfish beds; or otherwise has adversely affected 
recreational, aesthetic, and economic values. The case development temn should also consider 
whether the discharge has otherwise endangered the health or livelihood of persons by virtue of the 
chemical nature of the discharge (i.e., has the discharge resulted in a violation of' any applicable toxic 
effluent standard or prolubition under section 307 of the CW A, in the release of a hazardous substance 
under 40 C.F.R. 117 or Subtitle C of RCRA, 24 or in an imminent and substantial endangcnncnt mtdcr 
Section 504 of the Safe Drinking Water Act, Section 7003 ofRCRA, or Section 106 ofCERCLA).25 

22 SJ:J;.Po/icy on Civil Penalties, February 16, 1984, ;-!: 3. 

23 Looking at the totality of the circumstll.Oces, the cnsc development team should usc its best professional 
jt:dgment to decide what amount to use as a multiplier for 11 such violations. For cgre.giotJs violations with extreme 
environmental consequences, n higher value in this range should be us<:d as a multiplier. 

24 42 u.s.c. § 69'73. 

25 42 u.s.c. § 9606. 
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The greater the actual or potential threat to human health or welfare, the higher the value the case 
development terun should assign to this fuctor. If the dischruge has resulted in an imminent and 
substantial endangemJent, the highest value tor this factor should be used. 

2. Extent of Aquatic Environment !mpac!;e{j 0-20 

Although the size (acreage) of a violation is not dispositive of the environmental significance of 
the violation (i.e., a small impact to a \Ulique or critical water may have high environmental 
significance), all other factors being equal, the greater the acreage of waters filled or directly impacted, 
the higher t11e value the case development tem11 should assign to this factor. Staff should consider how 
large the acreage impacted is in the case \Ulder consideration compared to otl1er violations observed 
witl1in the same watershed, regionally or nationally. 26 

3. Severity of Impacts to the Aauatic Environment 0-20 

The case development team should coru;ider the overall impact of a defendant's discharges to 
waters oftl1e United States." Staff should also coru;ider as part oftl1is factorthe extent to which the 
discharge of dredged or fill material has caused (or has threatened to cause) adverse impacts to, or 
destruction of waters of the United States, including the extent to which the discharge has impaired tl1e 
flow or circulation or reduced the reach of waters of the United States, or has caused or contributed 
to violations of any applicable water quality standard. Under this factor, the case development tcrun 
should also coru;idcr whether the violation has resulted in adverse impacts to life stages of aquatic life 
and other wildlife dependent on aquatic ecosystems, or has adversely impacted or destroyed wildlife 
habitat, including aquatic vegetation, waterfowl staging or nesting areas, and fisheries. The greater tl1e 
risk of ham1 or actual impact to aquatic ecosystems, the higher the value the case development team 
should assign to this factor. !fa defendru1t's violation has resulted in harm to an endangered or 
threatened species, or impacted endru1gered species habitat, or has othetwise significantly impacted 
ecosystem diversity, productivity, or stability, a value in the highest end of the range should be used. 

4. Unjqueness/Sensitivily of the Affected Resom·ce 0-20 

The case development team should consider whether tl1e affected ecosystem is nationally or 
regionally limited, of a type that has become rare due to cmnulative impacts (e.g., Poccosin, vema! 
pools), or is relatively abtmdant. TI1e more scarce the impacted ecosystem, the higher the value that 

26 In areas where there has been a substantial historic ctunulativc Joss ofwat~rs of the United States, or in 
arid areas where acreage of' waters is a small portion of the natural landscape, n high value should be assigned to 
even smatl acreage tills. 

27 As part of this factor, the case development team should also con~ider the temporary loss ofwotlands 

functions and values. 
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staff should assign for this factor. Moreover, if the discharge occUlTed into any of the following, the 
case development team should generally assign a higher value to this factor: a site determined to be 
tmsuitable under40 C.P.R. 230.80; an area identified as having a Section 404(c) prohibition or 
restriction; a Section 303( d) impaired water; ;m area within the bow1dary of an Advance Identification 
of Disposal Areas (ADJD); an outstanding natw11l resource water under a state anti-dcj,'Tadation 
policy; areas designated as federal, state, tribal, or local protected lands; or an area established as a 
restored or enhanced wetland under an approved mitigation plan. 

5. Secondary m Off-Site Impacts 0-20 

The case development team should consider to what extent the discharges caused, or 
threatened to cause, secondary or off-site impacts such as erosion and downstream sedimentation 
problems, nuisance species intmsion, wildlife con·idor disruption, etc. The greater the amount of 
secondary impacts, UlC higher the value that should be assigned. 

6. Duration of Violation ()- 20 

Tile case development team should consider the duration of the violation under this factor. 
Consideration should be given both to the length of time that the discharge activity occurred in waters 
of the U.S., and the length of time that dredged or fill material has remained in place in such waters. 
Generally, the longer the duration of tl1e initial discharge activity, and/or the longer dredged or fill 
matetial has remained in place compared to other violations in the same watershed, regionally or 
nationally, the higher the value that should be assigned to tlus factor. 

Mitigating Factm·s for Environmental Significance 

It is possible in some wetlands cases for a violator to tmdo, or largely undo, the continuing 
environmental hmm resulting from violations -- althougl1 past Joss of functions and values cannot be 
restored. ln cases in which the original wetland or other water is restored, or will be restored under an 
enforceable agreement, Agency enforcement staff may reduce the mnmmt determined from the 
preliminruy gravity calculation tor Em~ronmental Significance (i.e., by reducing the values assigned to 
one or more of the Environmental Significm1ce factors). This offset should genemlly not be used in 
c'l~es whet<' oft:site mitigation is undertaken in lieu of on-site restoration of tl1eviolation.'-8 Viherever 
possible, the case development team should seek complete on-site restoration of the aquatic areas 
impacted. 29 11 detennining the gravity amount for environmental signiticance, tl1e ease development 

28 Where an afterHthe~fact has or will be issued for the discharge, the preliminary gravity amol;nt may be 
reduced whe-re. the loss ofwat\lrs is fully mitigated. 

l::l lli "Injunctive Relief Requirements in 40·1 Enforceme111 Actions" (September 29, 1999). 
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team should focus on the net impaim1ent of the wetlands or other waters after remediation is 
completed, rather than on the costs of the remediation to the violator. In addition, even where 
complete restoration occurs, the temporary loss of functions and values should still be considered in 
determining the Environmental Significance anmunt, unless those temporary losses have aheady been 
fully mitigated. Staff should also consider whether there is a risk that restoration may fail or be less 
than fully successful over time, when considering whether a reduction should be made for tl1is factor. 

"B" FACTORS: COMPLIANCE SIGNIFICANCE 

Factors Value Assigned 

1. Qe:gree of Culpability l • 20 

The case development team should evaluate the overall culpability oftl1e defendant (i.e., the 
degree of negligence, recklessness, intent or responsibility involved in committing the violation). The 
greater the degree of culpability, the higher the value that should be assigned to this factor. 30 The 
principal critelia for assessing culpability are the violator's previous experience with or knowledge of 
the Section 404 regt~atory requirements, the degree of the violator's control over the illegal conduct, 
and the violator's motivation for undertaking tl1e activity resulting in the violation. 

The criterion for assessing the violator's experience with or knowledge of the Section 404 
program is whether the violator knew or should have known of the need to obtain a Section 404 
pennit or of the adverse environmental consequences of the discharge prior to proceeding with tl1e 
discharge activity. TI1e greater the violator's knowledge of, experience with, and capability to 
w1derstand the Section 404 regt1lato1y requirements, and the greater the violator's ability to avoid the 
illegal conduc~ the greater the culpability. Examples of circumstances demonstrating greater culpability 
include previous receipt of a Section 404 authorization or a prior independent opinion of the need for a 
penn.it or of permit requirements. In such circumstances, a value in tl1e highest end of the range should 
be used. 

With regard to the violator's control over the unlawful conduct, tl1ere may be some situations 
where the violator bears Jess than full responsibility or may share the liability for the occurrence of a 
violation. The case development tean1 should assess the degree of culpability of each violator witl1 
respect to the violations in question. 

30 The case dcvclopmcn.l teum should separately consider the violator's "recalcitrance" as specified in the 
"Additional Adjustments to Gravity'' section below, and should adjust the penalty accordingly b<lscd on the level of 
recalcilrancc present {i.e" the violators refusal or unjustified delay in preventing, mitigating, or remedying a violation 
or in otherwise failing to cooperate). 
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finally, the motivation for the violation may be a factor evidencing &>realer culpability. lftl1e 
violator has sought to obtain a "indfall profit by destroying waters of the U.S. (e.g., by convetting 
wetlands to uplands) through consciom or negligent disregard ofthe Section 404 permitting progrnm, 
culpability shO\tld be considcn;d high even though tl1e violator will not in fact realize those profit~ and 
may have had little previous experience with the Section 404 program. 

2. Compliance Hist01y of the violator 0- 20 

The case development team should consider whether tl1e dctendant has a histoty of prior 
Section 404 violations including unpennitted discharge violations, pemrit violations, or a previous 
violation of an EPA a'hninistrative order. TI1e !,>reater tl1e number of past violations and tl1e more 
significant the violations were, tl1e higher the value that should be assi1,~1ed to this factor. The earlier 
violations need not relate to the same site as the present action. Ptior history information may be 
obtained not only from EPA experience with the violator, but also from appropriate Corps Districts, 
other federal agencies' knowledge and records, and. the violator's responses to Section 308 requests 
for intomJation. 

3. Need for Detme!lce: 0-20 

111e case development temn should consider the need to send a specific and/or general 
deterrence message for the violations at issue. Staff should consider the extent to which the violator 
appems likely to repeat the types of violations at issue and tl1e prevalence of this type of violation in 
the ret,'lJ!ated community. The greater the apparent likelihood of the violator to repeat the violation, or 
the more prevalent the violation at issue in the general community, the greater !he need for a strong 
deterrent message and the higher the value that should be assigned to this factor. 

ADDITIONAL AD.JlJS.IMEN'(,'l TO GRAVITY 

After establishing the preliminary gravity amount above, the ease development team may 
adjust this amount to reflect the recalcitrance of the violator and other relevant aspects of the case as 
provided for below. In addition to U1e gravity adjustments discussed below, there may be situations 
where the gravity component may also be adjusted under EPA's Audit Policy. 31 

31 ,Sss "lnccn:ivcs for Self-Policing: Discove-ry, Disclosure, Corret:tion and Prevention ofViolutiom;" 65 
Fed. Reg. 19618 (April II, 2000). 
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Recalcitrance Adjustment Factor: The "recalcitrance" adjustment factor may be used to increase32 

the penalty based on a violator's bad faith, or unjustified delay in preventing, mitigating, or remedying 
the violation in question. As distinguished from c1Jpability, which relates to the violator's level of 
knowledge of the regulatory program and responsibility for a given violation, recalcitrance under this 
policy relates to the violator's delay or rethsal to comply with the law, to cease violating, to correct 
violations, or to otherwise cooperate witl1 regulators once specific notice has been given and/or a 
violation has occurred. If a violator is, or has been, recalcitrant, the case development team may 
increase the penalty settlement amount accordingly. This factor applies, for example, to a person who 
continues violating after having been inf<mned of his violation, fails to provide requested information, or 
physically thre:1tens govcmment personnel. lf1he de!endant has violated either an Anny Corps of 
EJ1f,•ineers' cease and desist order or an EPA administrative order, or failed to respond to an EPA 
Section308 infonnation reques~ staff may accomrt for this violation by using this factor.'' TI1e more 
serious the bad faith demonstrated or mvustified delay engendered by the violator, the higher the 
recalcitrance adjustment should be. Applying the recalcitrance factor may result in a recalcitrance 
gravity adjt1>tment of up to 200 percent (200%) of the prelin1inary gravity amount. Titis factor is 
applied by multiplying the total preliminary gravity anrount by a percentage between 0 and 200. 

Quick Settlement Adjustment Factor: In order to provide an extra incentive for violators who 
m<Jke eftorts to achieve an efficient and timely resolution of violations, and in recognition of a violator's 
cooperativeness, EPA may reduce tl1e preliminary gravity amom1t by 10 percent (10%) in 
administrative enforcement actions. This factor may 011ly be applied if the case development team 
expects the violator to settle promptly and if the violation(s) at issue have or will be fully remediated. 
As a general rule, for purposes of this penalty reduction, in Class I administrative enforcement actions, 
a "quick settlement" is one in which the violator signs an administrative penalty order on consent within 
four montl1s of the date the complaint was issued or within four months of when the government first 
sent the violator a wlitten offer of settlement, whichever is earlier. For Class II administrative cases 
the controlling time peliod is six months. If the violator does not sign tl1e administrative consent 
agreement within this time period, the acljustrnent generally should not be made available. If this 
reduction has been 'taken but tl1e violator fails to settle quickly, this reduction should be witl1drawn and 
the settlement penalty increased accordingly. 

32 Once a violator has been informed of a violatiqn, a prompt return to compliance is the minimum rcspon~e 
expected, therefore, no downward adjustment is provided for by this policy for efforts made to come into com pi iance 
a.fkrbcing informedofa violation. (As discussed above, a prompt restoration of the violation would be a basis for 
lowering Lhe gravity amount by reducing the Environmental Significance of the violation). Where a violator has 
made "good faith efforts to comply with the applicable requirement" prior to being given notice of the violation by 
the government, .s..£.£ Sec.tion 309(d), this fact may be taken into account by providing'"~ lower value for the "Degree 
of Culpability" factor. 

33 In I he alternative, a scparatl.! gravity calculution may be performed for such violations. 
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Other Factors as Justice May Require: This consideration encompasses factors that operate to 
reduce a penalty settlement amount, as well as factors that operate to increase a penalty settlement 
amount. Not cve1y relevant circumstance can be anticipated al1ead of time. An example of a 
mitigating factor is a circumstance where a violator has already paid a civil penalty for the same 
violations at issue in a case brought by another plaintiff. These costs may be considered when 
detenJJining the appropriate penalty settlement.34 Of course, tl1e remaining settlement figure should be 
of a sufficient level to promote deteuence. Litigation considerations. should not be double counted 
here. 

C. Additional Reductions for Settlements 

Inability to Pay: If the violator has raised tl1e issue of inability to pay tl1e proposed penalty, the 
Region should request whatever documentation is needed to ascertain the violatm's financial 
condition." Any statements of financial condition should be appropliately certi5ed36 In order to 
promote settlemen~ EPA personnel should employ the Agency's ability to pay computerprogillms: 
ABEL, INDll' A Y and MUNIPA Y. 37 ABEL analyzes ability to pay claims from corporations and 
pmtnerships; INDIP A Y analyzes claims from individuals; and MUNIPA Y analyzes such clailllS fium 
municipalities, towns, sewer authorities m1d diinking water authorities. 'Where the violations are 
egregious, or the violator refuses to comply witl1 the law, the team may consider a bottom line that 
could affect the economic viability oftl1e violator. 

34 If the defendant has previously paid civil penalties for the same violations to another plaintiff, this factor 
may be used to reduce the amount of the settlement penalty by no more than the amount previously paid for the 
same violations. 

35 For a discussion of what financi!ll documents the Agency should seek, m.Q.u.i.!limcc qn Determining n 
Violator's Abj!ity to Pay a ('jvil Penalty. December 16, 1986, codified as General Enforcement Policy Compendium 
document PT.2Ml. For funhcr guidance on this issue and model interrogatories, contact the Financial Issues 

Helpline at (888) 326-6778. 

36 E.g., tllx returns must be sis ned, and us a precaution, the litigation team should have the 
dcfondant/respondcnt fill out IRS form 8821, which authorizes the IRS to release tax information directly to the EPA. 
ln that way, the Agency can verify the information in the tax returns. 

37 These models are available on the Agency's web site at http://www.epa.gQv/occH/datasys/dsm2.html. 
Because ABEL, MUNIPAY, and INDIPAY arc limited in their approach, many entities tllat fail the analysis may still 
be able to afford to achieve full compliance and pay the entire pc.nally. Therefore, it is essential to examine the 
violator's other potentin! resources, .<;\Jch as from liquidation of certi ficatcs of deposit and money market funds, 
before reducing a bottom line penalty for inability to pny. It is recommended that a financial rmalyst/cconomist be 
contacted to review financial information to determine if a violator truly has an inability to pay a penalty, :For fmthcr 
guidance in this area, contact the Agency's Financial issue:; Helpline nt (888) 326·6778. 
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Lith;mtion Considerations: Certain enforcement cases may have mitigating factors tl1at could be 
expected to persuade a court to assess a lower penalty amount. The simple existence of weaknesses 
or limitations in a case, however, should not automatically result in a litigation consideration reduction 
of tl1e bottom line settlement penalty amount.38 EPA may reduce the amount of the civil penalty it will 
accept at settlement to reflect weaknesses in its case where the facts demonstrate a substantial 
likelihood the government will not achieve a higher penalty at uial. 

Adjustments for litigation considerations may be taken on a fuctual basis specific to the case. 
Before a complaint is filed, the application of ce1tain litigation considerations may be premature, as the 
Agency may not have sufficient inf01rnation to fully evaluate litigation risk including evidentiary matters, 
wib1ess availability, and equitable defenses. Reductions for these litigation considerations are more 
likely to be approp1iate after the Agency obtains an inlonned view, tl1rough discovery and settlement 
negotiations, of the strengths and weaknesses in its case. Pre-filing settlement negotiations are often 
helpful in identifying and evaluating litigation considerations, especially regarding potential equitable 
defenses, and thus reductions based on such litigation considerations may be appropriately taken 
before the complaint is filed. 

Possible Litigation Considerations: While there is no universal list of litigation considerations, the 
following factors may be appropriate in evaluating whether the preliminary settlement penalty exceeds 
the penalty the Agency would likely obtain at trial: 

Troublesome fucts and/or uncertain legal ar1,>uments such that the 
Agency faces a significant risk of not prevailing in the case or obtaining 
a nationally significant negative precedent at mal; 

• Known problems with the reliability or admissibility of the 
govenunent's evidence proving liability or supporting a civil penalty; 

The credibility, reliability, and availability ofwitnesses;39 

38 In muny situations, the circumstances of a particular case arc already accounted for in the penalty 
calculation. For example, the gravity calculation will be Ies5 in those circumstances in which the.perlod of violation 
was brief, the excccdanccs ofth~ limitations were small, the pollutants were not toxic, or there is no evidence of 
environmental harm. The economic benefit calculation will also be smaller when the v.iolator has already returned to 
compliance, bc,:nuse the period of violation will be shorter. S1.1ch mitigating circumstances should not be double 

counted as reductions for litigafioa considcnHions. 

H Tlw credibility and reliability of witnesses relates lo their d~meanor, repulat ion, truthfulness, and 
impeachability, For instance, if a government witness has made statements .significantly contradictory to the 
position he is to support at trial, his credibility mny be impeached by the respondent or the defendant. The 
availability of a witness will affect the settlement b'ottom-linc if the witness cannot be produced nt trial. 
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The infOimcd, expressed opinion of the judge assigned to the case, 
after evaluating the meri~~ of tl1c case; 

The record of the judge in any otl1er environmental enforcement case 
presenting similar issues; 

• Statements made by federal, state or local regulators that may allow the 
respondent or defendant to credibly argue that it believed it was 
complying with federal requirements; 

The development of new, relevant case Jaw; 

• Penalties awarded in the same judicial district in other Section 404 
enforcement cases. 

Not Litigation Considerations: In contrast to tl1e above potential litigation considerations, the 
following factors should not be considered litigation considemtions: 

A generalized view to avoid litigation or to avoid potential precedential areas of the 
Jaw;4o 

A duplicative use of elements included or asswned elsewhere in the penalty policy, 
such as inability to pay, "good faith'~ 1 , lack of recalcitrance, or a Jack of demonsu·ated 
em~ronmental hann; 42 

• Off-the-record statements by the court, before it has had a chance to evaluate the 
specific merits of the case; 

40 A generalized desire to minimize litigation costs is ntlt a litigation ctmsidcration. 

41 The efforts of the violator to achieve compliance or minimize the viohnions after EPA or a state has 

initiated an enforcement action do not constitute "good faith" efforts. Tf such efforts arc undcnakcn before the 
regulatory agency initiates an enforcement response, the :~cttlement penalty calculatiCJn already includes such 
efforts. This p<.•nahy policy assumes all members oft he regulated community will make good faith efforts to both 

achieve compllnnce and remedy violations when they occur. ~!!.ls.u f.n. 32. 

42 Courts have considered the extent of environmental harm associ<~tcd with vlola!ions in determining :he 
"seriousness ofviolnlions" pursuant to the fact<Jrs in Section 309(d), and have used the absence of any 
demonstrated or discrete idenli tied environmental harm to impose less than the statutory maKimum penalty. Proof of 
environmental harm, however, is neither necessary for liability nor for the nsscssmcnt of penal lies. 
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• The fact that the water of the United States in question is already polluted or that the 
water can assimilate additional pollution.4' 

13 ~. u., Natuml Resources Defense Council v. Texaco Refinjng and Mktp., 800 F. Supp. I, 24 (D, Del. 
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IV. SUI>PLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECTS 

Supplemental Environmental Projects ("SEl's") are defined by EPA as envirormtentally 
beneficial projects that a violator agrees to undemtke as part of a settlement, but is not otherwise 
legally obligated to perfonn. Favorable penalty consideration is given because the SEP provides an 
environmental benefit above and beyond what is required to remedy the violation(s) at issue in the 
enforcement action. In determining whether a proposed SEP is acceptable under Agency policy, as 
well as the appropriate penalty offilet for a SEP, Agency enforcement staff should refer to the "FJ' A 
Supplemental Projects Policy.'"' Usc ofSEPs in a particular case is entirely within the discretion of 
EPA in administrative cases, and EPA and the Department of Justice in judicial cases. In determining 
the real cost of a SEP to a violator, the litigation team should use the PROJECT model." 

SEPs are particularly encouraged in the Section 404 progr11m if the SEP results in protection 
of a wetland resource or other special aquatic site. For example, ptrrchase and dedicated use of 
buffer land around a wetland helps ensure the survival of wetland resources, and is an appropriate and 
valuable SEP, as is upland land acquisition lying in wetland mosaics. In addition, deeding over 
wetlands in perpetuity for tl1e purpose of conseiVation promotes program interests and the goals of the 
Clem1 Water Act. It should be noted that restoration of mty area of tite violation, or any mitigation in 
ti1e foml of injunctive relief to remedy such violations (including mitigation for ti1e temporal loss of 
wetlands functions and values), does not constitute a SEP. 

V. DOCUMENTATION, APPROVALS, AND CONFIDENTIALITY 

Each component of the minimum settlement penalty calculation (including all adjustments), as 
well as subsequent recalculations, should be clearly documented in the case file along with supporting 
materials and written explanations. ln any case not otherwise subject to Headquarters conctm·ence, in 
which a settlement penalty in a Section 404 enforcement action may not comply with tlte provisions of 
this policy or where application of this policy appears inappropriate, the penalty must be approved in 
advance by Headquarters. 

Except as provided in Section II, documentation and explanation of a particular penalty 
calculation constitute confidential information that is exempt from disclosme w1der the Freedom of 

44 2ll "Issuance of Final Supplemental Environmcmal Projects Policy," Ml!"morandum from Steven A. 
Herman to Regional Administrators (AprillO, 1998). This policy is also available on ihc fnlernet at: 
hhtp ://www .epa. gov I occa/scp/sep final. html. 

45 This model is very similar to the BEN computer mode!, und like the other models, il is available on the 

Agency's Wl~b site at htlp://www.epa.gov/oeca/datasys/dsm2.html. For further lrlformation on the model and 
guidance in its me, contact the Financial Issues Hl;':lpl.inc at (888) 326-6778. 

-20-

Page 22 of 24 



Complainant's Ex. 40 

Information Act, is outside the scope of discovery, and is protected by various privileges, including the 
attorney-client and attorney-work product privileges. While individual settlement penalty calculations 
under this policy are confidential documents, this polky is a public document that may be released to 
anyone upon request. ln the conduct of scttlcn)cnt negotiations, the Agency may choose to release 
pmtions of the case-specific settlement calculations. Such infonnation may only be used for settlement 
negotiations in the case at hand and may not be admitted into evidence in a trial or heruing, as 
provided by Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 
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ATTACHMENT I TO CWA SECTION 404 SETTLEMENT 
POLICY 

Case Name _______ _ Date _____ _ 

Prepared by . 

SETTLEMENT PENALTY CALCULATION WORKSHEET 

STEP 

1. Calculate the Economic Benefit (attach BEN plintouts, and provide written 

2. Calculate the Preliminmy Gravity Amount 
(sum of A + B factors) x M 

3. Additional Gra\~ty 

a. Recakiu·ance (add 0 to 200%, x line 2) 

b. Quick Settlement Reduction (subtract l 0% x line 2) 

c. Otl1er Factors as Justice M.ay Require 

d. Total gra~ty adjustments (negative amount if net gravity reduction) (3.a + 
3.b + 3.c) 

4. l'reliminilry Penalty Amount (Lines l + 2 + 3d.) 

5. Litigation Considemtions (if any) 

6. Ability to Pay Reduction (if any) 

7. Reduction for SEPs (if any) 

8. Bottom-Line Cash Settlement Penalty (Line 4 less lines 5, 6, and 7) 
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